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Municipality

GREATER BENDIGO CITY

Level of significance

Registered

Victorian Heritage Register (VHR) Number

H0117

Heritage Overlay Numbers

HO147

VHR Registration

October 9, 1974

Heritage Listing

Victorian Heritage Register

Statement of Significance



Last updated on - April 24, 2024

What is significant?

The present Bendigo Town Hall was begun on this site in Hargraves Street in 1859 as a simple two storey brick
Italianate structure, designed by the town clerk and surveyor, George Avery Fletcher. After various additions and
alterations over a number of years, the Town Hall developed into an elaborate municipal structure. This building
was pre-dated by the first town hall building, a two roomed timber building located on View Point and purchased
for this purpose in 1856, after the first council elections. 
The town hall in Hargraves Street began as a brick building with sandstone dressings and corrugated iron roof,
facing the open market square to the north with projecting bays on either side enclosing a ground floor arcade
with a balcony above. Matching porticoes were attached to the east and west sides. This building provided the
basis for the design of all future extensions and the structure for the southern end of the building. 
In 1866-7 an extension was made to the north of the existing building, in front of the central recess; therefore
forming a light well in the town hall building. Designed by Fletcher, this addition contained a council chamber on
the upper floor with two rooms beneath, and a colonnade and balcony surrounding it to the east, north and west. 
Fletcher designed a further addition to the north in 1871-2, and this contained a corn exchange in the form of a
large hall, with basement below. Located on Hargraves Street, this corn exchange defined the northern part of
the present main hall. The north elevation, with two projecting bays and central colonnade, resembled that of the
original building. This addition, and the previous one, both maintained the same general style as the first town hall
building of 1859. 
A major remodelling of the Town Hall was undertaken between 1878 and 1886, to a master plan by Bendigo
architect William C. Vahland, and this resulted in a dramatic change in the character of the town hall building.
Many existing entries, porticoes, internal walls and windows were reused, with alterations to the exterior including
the addition of three towers and mansard roof, and to the interior including the rearrangement of ground floor
offices, extension of the upper floor, and extension and remodelling of the main hall. In 1885 the exterior of the
building was rendered and plastering of the interior was commenced, modelled by Otto Waschatz. The painting of
the main hall was finished in 1902, finally completing Vahland's master plan. 
The final main phase of remodelling was undertaken from 1913-15 by architects J. Beebe with J. G. Austen and
E. J. Keogh. It entailed work mainly to the interior of the south end of the building. In 1926 the main Hargraves
Street hall entry, foyer and balcony was replaced by a stage and other minor alterations were undertaken through
the 1970s. 
The Town Hall stands as a complex and sophisticated boom style building in a mannerist style, largely as
completed in 1886. The facades of this freestanding building are asymmetrical and deeply modelled,
incorporating rustication, deep broken pediments, alternating triangular and segmental pediments, layers of
varying orders with the Corinthian predominant, paired pilasters and columns, and skyline interest in the form of
three towers, mansard roofs and balustrading. Vahland?s retention of portico and side entry locations, and his
continuation of semicircular openings at ground level and segmental heads at the upper level, have been cleverly
incorporated in his overall design. The first phase of the building in fact provided the elevational layout of external
openings for all the later work. 
Extensive restoration works were begun at the Town Hall in 2000. This included the reinstatement of the
Hargraves Street entrance, foyer and balcony, involving the demolition of the 1926 balcony, and the
reinstatement of original decorative schemes and conservation of the extensive artwork.

How is it significant?

The Bendigo Town Hall is of architectural, aesthetic and historical significance to the State of Victoria. 

Why is it significant?

The Bendigo Town Hall is of architectural significance as a particularly notable example of mannerist architecture
which evokes the pretensions of Bendigo in its boom period. It is of architectural significance as an important
work of the prominent 19th century Bendigo architect, W. C. Vahland which displays his skilful adaption of an
existing building, while at the same time maintaining much of the existing fabric and layout. The three
dimensional quality of the design is unusual with equal attention given to more than one facade. 
The Town Hall is of architectural and aesthetic significance for the fine interiors of the main hall and council
chamber, which include elaborate plasterwork and hand painted panels. The association with important artist and
modeller, Otto Waschatz, who was also responsible for plasterwork decoration at the library at the Bendigo
School of Mines, and the Melbourne Town Hall is of particular note.



The Town Hall is of architectural significance as a major work in civic design of the late 19th century and for the
prominent role it plays in the townscape of Bendigo.
The Bendigo Town Hall is of historical significance due to its association with the development of Bendigo, a
major centre for gold mining in the nineteenth century. The elaborately decorated building demonstrates the
prosperity of Bendigo, particularly in the 1870s and 1880s, and it is illustrative of the civic growth that occurred as
a result of the mining industry.
[Online Data Upgrade Project 2005]

Permit Exemptions

General Exemptions:

General exemptions apply to all places and objects included in the Victorian Heritage Register (VHR). General
exemptions have been designed to allow everyday activities, maintenance and changes to your property, which
don’t harm its cultural heritage significance, to proceed without the need to obtain approvals under the Heritage
Act 2017.

Places of worship: In some circumstances, you can alter a place of worship to accommodate religious practices
without a permit, but you must notify the Executive Director of Heritage Victoria before you start the works or
activities at least 20 business days before the works or activities are to commence.

Subdivision/consolidation: Permit exemptions exist for some subdivisions and consolidations. If the subdivision or
consolidation is in accordance with a planning permit granted under Part 4 of the Planning and Environment Act
1987 and the application for the planning permit was referred to the Executive Director of Heritage Victoria as a
determining referral authority, a permit is not required.

Specific exemptions may also apply to your registered place or object. If applicable, these are listed below.
Specific exemptions are tailored to the conservation and management needs of an individual registered place or
object and set out works and activities that are exempt from the requirements of a permit. Specific exemptions
prevail if they conflict with general exemptions.

Find out more about heritage permit exemptions here.

Specific Exemptions:

General Conditions: 1. All exempted alterations are to be planned and carried out in a manner which prevents
damage to the fabric of the registered place or object. General Conditions: 2. Should it become apparent during
further inspection or the carrying out of works that original or previously hidden or inaccessible details of the place
or object are revealed which relate to the significance of the place or object, then the exemption covering such
works shall cease and Heritage Victoria shall be notified as soon as possible. Note: All archaeological places
have the potential to contain significant sub-surface artefacts and other remains. In most cases it will be
necessary to obtain approval from the Executive Director, Heritage Victoria before the undertaking any works that
have a significant sub-surface component.

General Conditions: 3. If there is a conservation policy and planall works shall be in accordance with it. Note:A
Conservation Management Plan or a Heritage Action Planprovides guidance for the management of the heritage
values associated with the site. It may not be necessary to obtain a heritage permit for certain works specified in
the management plan.

General Conditions: 4. Nothing in this determination prevents the Executive Director from amending or rescinding
all or any of the permit exemptions. General Conditions: 5. Nothing in this determination exempts owners or their
agents from the responsibility to seek relevant planning or building permits from the responsible authorities where
applicable. Minor Works : Note: Any Minor Works that in the opinion of the Executive Director will not adversely
affect the heritage significance of the place may be exempt from the permit requirements of the Heritage Act. A
person proposing to undertake minor works must submit a proposal to the Executive Director. If the Executive

https://application-hub.app.planning.vic.gov.au/hv/createForm/EDNotificationHV
https://www.heritage.vic.gov.au/permits-and-approvals/heritage-permit-exemptions


Director is satisfied that the proposed works will not adversely affect the heritage values of the site, the applicant
may be exempted from the requirement to obtain a heritage permit. If an applicant is uncertain whether a heritage
permit is required, it is recommended that the permits co-ordinator be contacted.

Construction dates 1866,  1871,  1878, 

Architect/Designer Fletcher, George A,  Vahland, William Charles, 

Heritage Act Categories Registered place, 

Hermes Number 125
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History

The present Bendigo Town Hall was begun on this site in Hargraves Street in 1859 as a simple two storey brick
Italianate structure, designed by the town clerk and surveyor, George Avery Fletcher. After various additions and
alterations over a number of years, the Town Hall developed into an elaborate municipal structure. This building
was pre-dated by the first town hall building, a two roomed timber building located on View Point and purchased
for this purpose in 1856, after the first council elections.

The town hall in Hargraves Street began as a brick building with sandstone dressings and corrugated iron roof,
facing the open market square to the north with projecting bays on either side enclosing a ground floor arcade
with a balcony above. Matching porticoes were attached to the east and west sides. This building provided the
basis for the design of all future extensions and the structure for the southern end of the building.

In 1866-7 an extension was made to the north of the existing building, in front of the central recess; therefore
forming a light well in the town hall building. Designed by Fletcher, this addition contained a council chamber on
the upper floor with two rooms beneath, and a colonnade and balcony surrounding it to the east, north and west.

Fletcher designed a further addition to the north in 1871-2, and this contained a corn exchange in the form of a
large hall, with basement below. Located on Hargraves Street, this corn exchange defined the northern part of
the present main hall. The north elevation, with two projecting bays and central colonnade, resembled that of the
original building. This addition, and the previous one, both maintained the same general style as the first town hall
building of 1859.

A major remodelling of the Town Hall was undertaken between 1878 and 1886, to a master plan by Bendigo
architect William C. Vahland, and this resulted in a dramatic change in the character of the town hall building.
Many existing entries, porticoes, internal walls and windows were reused, with alterations to the exterior including
the addition of three towers and mansard roof, and to the interior including the rearrangement of ground floor
offices, extension of the upper floor, and extension and remodelling of the main hall. In 1885 the exterior of the
building was rendered and plastering of the interior was commenced, modelled by Otto Waschatz. The painting of
the main hall was finished in 1902, finally completing Vahland’s master plan.

The final main phase of remodelling was undertaken from 1913-15 by architects J. Beebe with J. G. Austen and
E. J. Keogh. It entailed work mainly to the interior of the south end of the building. In 1926 the main Hargraves
Street hall entry, foyer and balcony was replaced by a stage and other minor alterations were undertaken through
the 1970s.

Extensive restoration works were begun at the Town Hall in 2000. This included the reinstatement of the
Hargraves Street entrance, foyer and balcony, involving the demolition of the 1926 balcony, and the
reinstatement of original decorative schemes and conservation of the extensive artwork.

The draft statement of significance and the above history were produced as part of an Online Data
Upgrade Project 2005. Sources were as follows:
T. Westmore and M. Butcher. Bendigo Town Hall Conservation Plan. Vols 1 and 2. 1993



Extent of Registration

City of Bendigo. No. 117.Bendigo TownHall,Hargreaves Street, Bendigo.
[Victoria Government Gazette No 100 Wednesday, October 9 1974 p.3648]

This place/object may be included in the Victorian Heritage Register pursuant to the Heritage Act 2017. Check
the Victorian Heritage Database, selecting 'Heritage Victoria' as the place source.

For further details about Heritage Overlay places, contact the relevant local council or go to Planning Schemes
Online http://planningschemes.dpcd.vic.gov.au/

http://planningschemes.dpcd.vic.gov.au/

